PERSPECTIVES

By Sarah T. Babcock & Jonathan E. Wells, Alston & Bird LLP

he Comprehensive Environmental Response,

Compensation, and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§

9601 et seq., or CERCLA, establishes a broad
federal program for remediating contaminated sites. Courts
have grappled with the proper relationship between two
provisions of CERCLA that authorize suits to recover
remediation costs—Sections 107 and 113—since Section
113 was added to the statute in 1986. These Sections have
been the subject of continued scrutiny and analysis because
the stakes are high. The availability of relief under either
Section can impact the way in which liability is allocated in
multi-million dollar hazardous waste cleanups. The Supreme
Court has twice intervened in the last decade to correct
lower court rulings regarding the availability of relief under
each Section, and its most recent decision, United States
v. Atlantic Research Corp., 551 U.S. 128, 127 S. Ct. 2331
(20006), has been widely expected to create the need for a
third trip to the Court. In Atlantic Research, the Court
expressly left open the question of whether a party who
has incurred response costs pursuant to a consent decree
can recover those costs under Section 107. To date, both
district and appellate courts have largely agreed that Section
107 relief is not available to a party in those circumstances.
The 11th Circuit recently became the fourth federal Court
of Appeals to so hold, and its decision in Solutia, Inc. v.
McWane, Inc., 672 F3d 1230 (11th Cir. 2012), reconfirms
that this is the only interpretation consistent with
CERCLA’s language and structure.

The twin goals of CERCLA are to ensure the “prompt
cleanup of hazardous waste sites and imposition of all cleanup
costs on the responsible party.”! To that end, CERCLA
authorizes the United States Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA) to conduct necessary cleanup work itself* and
recover the costs from any potentially responsible party (PRP)
by bringing a cost recovery action pursuant to Section 107.°
Alternatively, EPA can require a PRP to finance and perform
the cleanup itself.* In some instances, a party elects to clean

up a hazardous waste site without any formal enforcement
action by EPA.

In each case, CERCLA permits the party funding and/
or performing the cleanup to seek reimbursement of its
remediation costs from PRPs. Section 107 allows a party who
has incurred costs in cleaning up a contaminated site to bring
a cost recovery action against PRPs.” Section 113 provides a
right of contribution to a party who has incurred response

costs after being sued by EPA to perform a cleanup or after
settling its CERCLA liability with EPA.°

CERCLA did not always contain this express right of
contribution. The initial version of the statute only expressly
provided the cost recovery remedy found in Section 107.
This left parties who had been sued by EPA or another
PRP without an express statutory mechanism for seeking
reimbursement of costs above their fair share from other
PRPs. To right this perceived wrong, courts began holding



that CERCLA contained an implied right to contribution.”
In 1986, Congress codified this judicially-created right of
contribution by adding Section 113 to CERCLA in the
Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986
(SARA Amendments).?

While offering PRPs a statutorily-explicit avenue
for seeking reimbursement of response costs, the SARA
Amendments limited Section 113’s contribution right in
several significant respects. First, Section 113 only provides
for contribution, meaning that a party can only recover
those costs beyond what the party should have paid.’ Section
107, in contrast, potentially permits a party to seek joint
and several liability.'” A Section 107 plaintiff can therefore
potentially shift all of its liability to defendant PRPs. Next,
Section 113 actions are subject to a three year statute of
limitations, while a party generally has six years to bring a
Section 107 claim."" Finally, Section 113 actions are subject to
CERCLA’s settlement bar. As part of the SARA Amendments,
Congress granted PRPs that settle their CERCLA liability
with the United States protection from contribution suits
by other PRPs."> Congress intended this bar to encourage
PRPs to settle their CERCLA liability with the United States
as quickly as possible."” This protection does not, however,
extend to suits brought pursuant to Section 107.

Although the SARA Amendments might have been
expected to simplify options for recovering response costs,
the CERCLA jurisprudence only grew more complicated
after the addition of Section 113. Seeking to “direct traffic”
between Section 107 and the new Section 113 remedy, courts
mostly held that relief under Section 107 was only available to
“innocent” parties, i.e., parties that did not contribute to the
contamination at issue.'* This restriction of Section 107 led to
a corresponding expansion of Section 113; courts permitted
PRPs to seck contribution under Section 113 even in the
absence of a suit under Sections 106 or 107, as the express
language of Section 113 would seem to require.”

The Supreme Court held in Cooper Industries that
Section 113 did, in fact, require the initiation of a suit under
Sections 106 or 107 as a prerequisite to filing a contribution
action.'® In that case, the plaintiff, Aviall, discovered
contamination at a property it had purchased from Cooper
Industries."” After notifying the state environmental agency
of the contamination and being threatened with enforcement
action if the contamination was not remedied, Aviall began
to clean up the site.'® Aviall then filed suit under Section
113 against Cooper Industries as the prior owner, seeking
contribution for its response costs.'” The Supreme Court
held that the plain language of Section 113 did not permit
Aviall’s suit. As a result, Aviall was unable to recover any of its
response costs.

The holding in Cooper Industries put PRPs in an
untenable position. In the absence of a suit or settlement
pursuant to Section 106 or Section 107, a PRP could not
engage in a voluntary cleanup and recover its response costs
pursuant to Section 113. Under the case law at the time, a
PRP was also prevented from bringing suit under Section 107
because it was not “innocent.”? Thus, a PRP had no incentive
to voluntarily remediate a site because it could never recover
against other PRPs. As the Third Circuit observed, this state
of the law was inconsistent with CERCLA, as “[v]oluntary
cleanups are vital to fulfilling CERCLA’s purpose.”

Atlantic Research presented the Supreme Court with
an opportunity to address this gap. In Atlantic Research,
the plaintiff brought suit against the United States under
Section 107 following its voluntary cleanup of a site operated
by the Department of Defense.”? The United States filed a
motion to dismiss the complaint, arguing the plaintiff, as a
PRP, could not seek relief under Section 107.% The Supreme
Court decided that the plaintiff could, in fact, bring suit
under Section 107, holding that there was no textual basis
for limiting Section 107 relief to “innocent” parties.* The
Court emphasized that CERCLA must be read as a whole and
determined that the cramped textual interpretation advanced
by the government simply did not make sense within
CERCLAs statutory framework. The Court also emphasized
the “complementary yet distinct” nature of the remedies
under Sections 107 and 113:

the remedies available in §§ 107(a) and
113(f) complement each other by providing
different causes of action to persons in different
procedural circumstances. Section 113(f)(1)
authorizes a contribution action to PRPs with
common liability stemming from an action
instituted under § 106 or § 107(a). And §
107(a) permits cost recovery (as distinct from
contribution) by a private party that has itself
incurred cleanup costs.”

Although the Court stopped short of holding that a
plaintiff could not elect between available remedies under
CERCLA, the Atlantic Research decision restored the
incentive for PRPs to voluntarily clean up contaminated sites,
by allowing such parties to sue other PRPs in the absence of
a suit or judicially-approved settlement under Section 106 or
Section 107.

While the Atlantic Research decision resolved an
important question regarding whether PRPs may bring
suit under Section 107, it created a gap for Section 107
claims in other circumstances. In a footnote, the Supreme
Court noted that, in some cases, a PRP may incur costs
“pursuant to a consent decree following a suit under § 106



or § 107(a).”?® The Court expressly declined to decide,
however, whether such compelled costs can be recovered
under Section 107, Section 113, or both, stating only “[f]or
our purposes, it suffices to demonstrate that costs incurred
voluntarily are recoverable only by way of § 107(a)(4)(B),
and costs of reimbursement to another person pursuant to
a legal judgment or settlement are recoverable only under
§ 113(f).”* The Court declined to define the gap between
these two ends of the spectrum, leaving the lower federal
courts to determine the extent to which costs incurred
pursuant to a consent decree can be recovered under either
statutory section.

In the wake of the Atlantic Research decision, most courts
faced with a claim for recovery of response costs incurred
pursuant to a consent decree held that, if Section 113 relief
was available to the plaintiff, a Section 107 remedy was
foreclosed. ** In other words, if the response costs gave rise
to a claim for contribution under Section 113, i.e., they
were incurred pursuant to an agreement that settled the
plaintiffs CERCLA liability, then the plaintiff could not
elect to proceed under Section 107 instead. This holding,
according to the lower courts, preserved the “complementary
yet distinct” remedies of Sections 107 and 113 and gave effect
to Congress addition of an explicit contribution remedy in
the SARA Amendments.”’ In Niagara Mohawk Power Corp.

v. Chevron U.S.A., Inc., for example, the Second Circuit

held that an administrative consent order with the New York
Department of Environmental Conservation settled the
plaintiffs CERCLA liability and created a cause of action
under Section 113.3° The court held that, because a Section
113 remedy was available, the plaintiff could not seck relief
under Section 107.%" As the court stated, “[t]o allow [plaintiff]
to proceed under § 107(a) would in effect nullify the SARA
amendment and abrogate the requirements Congress placed
on contribution claims under § 113.73?

Although the district courts began to reach this
consensus in the years shortly after Atlantic Research, by
the beginning of 2012, only three Circuits—the Second,
Third, and Eighth**—had addressed the issue left open by
that decision. The Solutia case would make the 11th Circuit
just the 4th appellate court to tackle the question raised in
Atlantic Research.

The litigation in Solutia, Inc. v. McWane, Inc. arose from
EPA’s investigation of PCB and lead contamination in
Anniston, Ala. in the early 2000s. Based on its findings, EPA
designated portions of Anniston as two federal Superfund
sites: the Anniston PCB Site and the Anniston Lead Site.*
The Sites overlap geographically and contain PCBs, lead and/

or other hazardous substances.®

In 2002, EPA filed suit against Solutia, Inc. and
Pharmacia Corporation (collectively, Solutia and Pharmacia)
in relation to the contamination in Anniston. The parties
negotiated a Partial Consent Decree (PCD), requiring Solutia
and Pharmacia to perform certain sampling and removal
actions to address both PCB and lead contamination.?

Approximately one year later, Solutia and Pharmacia filed
suit against a group of PRPs—the Solutia, Inc. v. McWane,
Inc. lawsuit—seeking to recover their response costs for
the Anniston Lead Site under Section 107 and seeking
contribution for certain costs incurred at the Anniston PCB
and Lead Sites under Section 113.%” Several defendant PRPs
subsequently resolved their CERCLA liability with EPA
for both the Anniston PCB and Lead Sites, entering into a
settlement and administrative order on consent.’® As a result,
the court dismissed Solutia and Pharmacia’s Section 113
claim as to the settling defendant-PRPs, holding that these
parties were shielded from a Section 113 suit by CERCLA’s

contribution protection for settling parties.*

As for the Section 107 claim, the defendants argued
that Solutia and Pharmacia were limited to Section 113
relief for any costs stemming from the work required under
their settlement with EPA.*’ Because the PCD gave rise to
a Section 113 claim, the defendants argued, Solutia and
Pharmacia were limited to that relief and could not pursue a
Section 107 remedy. The district court ultimately agreed with
the defendants and granted summary judgment, resulting in
the dismissal of Solutia and Pharmacia’s Section 107 claim.!
Significantly, the district court held not only that Solutia and
Pharmacia were limited to a Section 113 claim by virtue of
the PCD, but also that all of the work performed pursuant
to that settlement—including work at the Lead Site—was
encompassed by the Section 113 claim.*?

Solutia and Pharmacia appealed the district court
decision to the 11th Circuit, challenging both the holding
that a party may not bring a Section 107 claim when relief
is available under Section 113, as well as the conclusion that
the PCD encompassed Solutia’s and Pharmacia’s claims for
recovery of costs related to cleanup work at the Lead Site.”

In regard to the legal question, the 11th Circuit
acknowledged that the issue before it was one of first impression
for the Circuit, but recognized that other federal appellate
precedent meant the court was “not drawing on a completely
blank slate.”** While the 11th Circuit agreed with the ultimate
holdings of its sister circuits, the court approached the interplay
between Sections 107 and 113 in a slightly different manner.
The court first noted that, under an 11th Circuit case that
predates Atlantic Research, a consent decree gives rise to a right
to contribution under Section 113.% Consistent with this
precedent, the 11th Circuit held that a Section 113 contribution
claim was available to Solutia and Pharmacia.“



The court then turned to the issue of “whether a
party who has a claim under § 113(f) for cleanup costs
may also have a claim under § 107(a) for those same
costs.”*” Solutia and Pharmacia had argued that nothing
in the text of CERCLA precluded bringing an action
under both Section 107 and Section 113. While the
court acknowledged this textual argument, it followed
the Supreme Court’s admonishment in Atlantic Research
that CERCLA must “be read as a whole.”® Adopting
Solutia and Pharmacia’s interpretation, the 11th Circuit
concluded, would eviscerate CERCLA’s remedial scheme.
As the court stated, “[i]f a party subject to a consent decree
could simply repackage its § 113(f) claim for contribution
as one for recovery under § 107(a), then the structure of
CERCLA remedies would be completely undermined.”*
For example, a party would be able to circumvent the
statutory contribution protection given to parties that
settle their liability with EPA, which, the court explained,
“would destroy CERCLA’s statutorily-created settlement
incentive.”® This situation would be even more untenable
given that such a plaintiff, having thwarted the defendants’
contribution protection, could potentially use Section 107
to seek joint and several liability.

To avoid this untenable result, the 11th Circuit held
that Section 107 relief is not available to a plaintiff when a
Section 113 remedy exists.”’ Quoting the Eighth Circuit’s
decision in Morrison Enterprises, LLC v. Dravo Corp.,
the court explained, “we must deny the availability of a
§ 107(a) remedy under these circumstances in order ‘[t]

o ensure the continued vitality of the precise and limited
right to contribution.””*?

While following the rulings of its sister circuits, the 11th
Circuit’s holding extends beyond those decisions. This is made
apparent in the court’s discussion of Solutia and Pharmacia’s
claim that the PCD did not expressly encompass their lead
cleanup work. Solutia and Pharmacia had argued that because
the PCD was for the Anniston PCB Site, any costs related
to cleanup of the Anniston Lead Site were recoverable under
Section 107. In assessing this claim, the 11th Circuit noted
that Solutia and Pharmacia had not resolved their liability for
the Lead Site with EPA.>® Nonetheless, because Solutia and
Pharmacia were required to clean up lead under the PCD, the
11th Circuit held that any costs related to the lead cleanup
work were recoverable only under Section 113.* The court’s
decision makes clear that parties cannot escape the limitations
of Section 113 by claiming that a given settlement agreement
does not encompass discrete parts of a cleanup. Moreover,
under this ruling, courts will not be required to parse a
consent decree and its related documents to determine which
aspects of a cleanup were truly “required.” Rather, the 11th
Circuit’s decision demonstrates that response costs related
to any work performed pursuant to a consent decree are
recoverable only under Section 113.

By expressly leaving part of the interplay of Sections 107 and
113 open in Adantic Research, the Supreme Court created the
distinct possibility that it would be forced to revisit this issue at
a later date. However, the federal Courts of Appeals are rapidly
reaching a consensus on the proper answer to the question left
open by Adantic Research. With its ruling in Solutia, the 11th
Circuit became the fourth federal Court of Appeals to hold
that a party may only recover response costs incurred pursuant
to a consent decree under Section 113. As it and the other
courts have emphasized, this result is the only interpretation
consistent with CERCLA’s language and statutory structure.
This agreement among Circuits should prevent another trip to
the Supreme Court and will provide parties with the certainty

that is so often absent under CERCLA.
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By Susan L. Jenkins & Jennifer H. Welte, Georgia EPD

The Georgia Environmental Protection Division (EPD)
Air Protection Branch is constantly looking for ways to
improve the performance of its permitting functions without
diminishing the quality of its permit reviews or permitting
decisions. With this goal in mind, the Stationary Source
Permitting Program undertook a study in 2008 to review the
performance of its New Source Review (NSR) permitting
functions for new major sources and major modifications.

The majority of the major NSR permitting functions
carried out by the Stationary Source Permitting Program
pertain to those facilities in attainment areas governed
by the Prevention of Significant Deterioration (PSD)
requirements in Title I Part C of the Clean Air Act
Amendments of 1990 (CAA) (42 U.S.C. §§ 7470 et. seq.),
as promulgated under 40 C.ER. § 52.21. Another portion
of the major NSR program includes Nonattainment New
Source Review permitting governed by CAA Title I Part
D (42 U.S.C. §§ 7501 et. seq.), as promulgated under 40
C.ER. Part 51 Appendix S." In addition, some permitting
functions carried out by the Stationary Source Permitting
Program pertain to major sources of hazardous air pollutants
for which there is no CAA emissions standard as set forth in
40 C.ER. Part 63. In such cases, the applicant must perform
a Case-by-Case MACT determination under CAA § 112(g),
as the New Source Review regulations do not apply.?

The NSR permitting functions performance review
revealed the need for two action items by the EPD Air
Protection Branch: (1) the development of a PSD permit
application protocol to be followed by all applicants, and
(2) the designation of a “one-stop-shop point of contact”
within the EPD Air Protection Branch for parties seeking
major NSR and/or 112(g) permits.

To develop a PSD permit application protocol, the
Stationary Source Permitting Program worked cooperatively
with members of the Georgia Industry Environmental
Coalition (GIEC) to develop a draft Georgia EPD PSD
Permit Application Guidance Document. Georgia EPD
made this guidance document available for public review
on June 11, 2012, with a comment deadline of July 13,
2012. With this application guidance document, Georgia
EPD and the GIEC seek to provide a consistent foundation
for what constitutes a “complete” PSD permit application
in Georgia.

The Stationary Source Permitting Program also
designated an NSR-focused point of contact to serve
permit applicants. In September 2010, Ms. Susan Jenkins

was tapped by Air Protection Branch chief James Capp to
serve as the PSD Coordinator for the Stationary Source
Permitting Program. In this position, Ms. Jenkins serves as
the “one-stop-shop point of contact” for interested parties
for major NSR and 112(g) permitting activities in Georgia.
Susan Jenkins has also been asked to advise the Georgia
Attorney General’s Office on PSD permit appeals during
her tenure with the Georgia EPD Air Protection Branch.

The PSD Coordinator’s duties include:

Developing and maintaining major NSR application
procedures for applicants;

Developing and maintaining major NSR and 112(g)
application review procedures for Air Protection
Branch staff;

Coordinating permit reviews of all major NSR
and 112(g) permitting actions, which may include
technology reviews by the Stationary Source
Permitting Program and air impact assessment

reviews by the Data and Modeling Unit;

Attending all in-house meetings and conference calls
with potential major NSR applicants and/or 112(g)
applicants, including air impact modeling focused
meetings;

Ensuring that the Air Protection Branch stays up to
date on all proposed and final EPA rule changes for
major NSR and 112(g) permitting;

Ensuring consistency in EPD’s record of permit
development (i.e., Preliminary and Final
Determination and Notice of MACT Approval); and

Participating in relevant EPD stakeholder meetings,
public meetings and public hearings.

The Georgia EPD Air Protection Branch has successfully
streamlined several complicated PSD air application reviews
since implementing these changes in the fall of 2010. Of
particular note, the Branch worked successfully with PyraMax
Ceramics, LLC Kings Mill (“PyraMax Ceramics”) and CARBO
Ceramics Millen (“CARBO Ceramics”) in the preparation
and issuance of these facilities’ PSD air permits in an effective,
timely manner (i.e., less than 8 months from receipt of a
complete application to issuance of a final permit).

PyraMax Ceramics sought PSD air permits in both
Georgia and under the South Carolina Department of
Health and Environmental Control (DHEC). Georgia EPD



issued the final PSD air permit for PyraMax approximately
6 months from receipt of a complete application - without
the additional South Carolina requirement to pay an
expedited permit application fee. The timeliness of the EPD
Air Protection Branch’s actions for PyraMax was noted by

a local news publication as one reason PyraMax Ceramics

located their Kings Mill facility in Georgia.?

Likewise, Georgia EPD issued a final PSD air permit
to CARBO Ceramics in less than 8 months from receipt
of a complete application. The Air Protection Branch’s
outstanding efforts in streamlining the PSD air permitting
process was acknowledged in an April 2012 letter from
CARBO Ceramics to Branch chief James Capp, EPD
Director Judson H. Turner, and Governor Nathan Deal.

The Georgia EPD Air Protection Branch looks forward
to working with potential Georgia applicants and helping
them move through the NSR regulatory process in a timely
manner. Interested parties should contact Susan Jenkins
at (404) 675-1497, or susan.jenkins@dnr.state.ga.us, for
further information and assistance in permitting a major
NSR and/or 112(g) source in the State. More information is
also available on the EPD Air Protection Branch’s website.*

Susan Jenkins has worked in the EPD Air Protection
Branch since 1993 as an environmental engineer in the air
permitting and compliance programs and the Planning and
Regulatory Development Unit. Ms. Jenkins has reviewed
over 400 air quality permit applications for numerous
Georgia industry sectors, including eleven NSR-PSD air
quality permit applications. Prior to joining EPD, Ms.
Jenkins worked in the engineering and environmental

consulting arenas. She holds a B.S. and M.S. in Mechanical
Engineering from the University of Alabama-Huntsville and
an M.S. in Environmental Engineering from the University
of Tennessee-Knoxville.

Jennifer H. Welte has worked in EPD’s Watershed
Protection Branch for nine years, currently serving as
manager of the wetlands program. She is a member of the
State Bar of Georgia, Environmental Law Section, and
previously practiced environmental law at King & Spalding.
Ms. Welte holds a B.S. in Civil Engineering with high
honors from Georgia Tech, and a J.D. from Georgia State
University’s College of Law.

(

Endnotes)

1 Georgia EPD’s regulations concerning PSD and
Nonattainment NSR permitting were approved by the
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as part of
Georgia’s State Implementation Plan (SIP). The PSD and
Nonattainment NSR regulations are found under Georgia’s
Rules for Air Quality Control, Ga. R. & Regs. 391-3-1-
.02(7) & 391-3-1-.03(8)(c), respectively.

2  Georgia EPD regulations concerning Case-by-Case MACT
determinations under 112(g) of the CAA are found under
Georgia’s Rules for Air Quality Control, Ga. R. & Regs.
391-3-1-.02(9)(b)16.

3 Parish Howard, Wrens plant one step closer, The News
and Farmer, December 22, 2011, available at http://www.
thenewsandfarmer.com/

4 For PSD permitting resources, visit http://www.georgiaair.
org/airpermit/html/sspp/ psdresources.htm & http://www.
georgiaair.org/airpermit/html/permits/psd/main.html. For
information on Georgia’s nonattainment areas, visit http://
www.georgiaair.org/airpermit/ html/planningsupport/naa.
htm. For EPD’s NSR modeling resources, visit http://www.
georgiaair.org/airpermit/html/sspp/modeling.htm.
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By Richard E. Glaze, Jr., Balch & Bingham, LLP, Atlanta, Ga.

n March 21, 2012, the United States Supreme

Court issued its opinion in Sackett v. EPA" and

settled the question of whether “pre-enforcement”
judicial review is available for an administrative compliance
order (ACO) issued under section 309(g)(3) of the Clean
Water Act (CWA).? In doing so, the Supreme Court
reversed the decision of the U.S. Court of Appeals of the
Ninth Circuit, overruled contrary opinions in other circuits
and changed widespread presumptions regarding recourse
available to recipients of ACO’s issued under environmental
statutes.” Despite much speculation by commenters, questions
remain as to what the decision means for enforcement under
the affected programs. This article examines enforcement
mechanisms that may be affected by the Sackett holding
and the possible consequences to enforcers and the regulated

community under the CWA and other environmental statutes
administered by EPA.

The CWA prohibits the discharge of “any pollutant,”
including “dredged or fill material,” without a permit into
“navigable waters.” The Act defines “navigable waters” as
“waters of the United States,” which are in turn defined
in CWA regulations to include wetlands adjacent to
navigable waters or their tributaries.® When EPA determines
that an unauthorized discharge has occurred, it has
various enforcement options, including: (1) assessing an
administrative penalty;” (2) initiating a civil enforcement
action in district court;® and (3) issuing an ACO directing
the violator to remove the discharged material and take other
actions to come into compliance.’ Recipients of penalty
orders are granted the right to judicial review by section
309(g)(8) of the CWA." The Act is silent regarding whether
ACO’s issued under section 309(a)(3) are reviewable.

Sackett involved an order issued by EPA under CWA
section 309(a)(3) which accused Mr. and Mrs. Sackett of filling
wetlands without a permit. In 2007, Mr. and Mis. Sackett filled
part of a lot they had purchased to build a house. The property
was a 2/3 acre residentially zoned lot with a sewer connection.
EPA determined that the fill was placed in wetlands and that
the fill violated the statute because the Sacketts did not have
a permit to fill wetlands as required by the CWA. The ACO
directed the Sacketts to remove the fill and restore the site to
its original condition. The order explained EPA’s enforcement
options, which included the possibility of penalties of up to

$75,000 per day." In response, the Sacketts petitioned EPA
for a hearing to challenge the agency’s wetland determination
believing that under the relatively recent holding in Rapanos v.
United States, the filled area was not a jurisdictional “water of
the United States.” EPA refused to grant a formal hearing, but
did agree to meet with the Sacketts informally. Not satisfied
with this limited option, the Sacketts filed suit in U.S. District
Court to challenge the order. They based their challenge on
section 706 of the Administrative Procedure Act'* and argued
that their rights to due process had been violated. The district
court granted EPA’s motion to dismiss, holding that the court
lacked jurisdiction to hear the case because pre-enforcement
review of EPA’s compliance order was not permitted under the
CWA."” On appeal, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals upheld
the lower court’s decision.'* According to the Ninth Circuit,
the Sacketts could not bring an administrative challenge to the
order because the CWA implies that pre-enforcement review
is not available.”® Moreover, the Ninth Circuit found that the
Sacketts were not denied due process because they would still
have the opportunity to have their day in court either through
the wetlands permitting process or when EPA sued to recover
penalties.'® The Supreme Court reversed the Ninth Circuit,
concluding that a CWA administrative compliance order is
“final” for purposes of allowing APA judicial review and that
the CWA does not implicitly bar judicial review."” The Court
did not reach the question of whether a bar on pre-enforcement
review violates due process.

It is important at the outset to understand the nature of the
CWA compliance order at issue in Sackett and similar orders
at EPA’s disposal under other statutes. The Sackett order was
authorized by section 309(a)(3) of the CWA.*® These orders
are used by the agency to order compliance with the same
provisions for which civil judicial actions and criminal actions
may be brought."” A section 309(a)(3) order may not impose
penalties for the underlying alleged violations, but section
309(d) of the CWA provides that failure to comply with a
section 309(a)(3) order subjects the recipient to penalties

of up to $25,000 per day, (adjusted to $37,500 per day by
the Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation Adjustment Rule).”’ A
variety of orders that can be used to compel compliance are
available to EPA under other environmental statutes. Several
are more or less similar in language and effect to the Sackett
order, and their use is therefore potentially affected by the
Sackett decision.



The Supreme Court was not persuaded by the rationale
of the Ninth Circuit and other courts that had upheld
EPA’s position regarding the absence of any right to pre-
enforcement review. The following criticism of the lower
court’s decision, from the introduction to the petition for
certiorari in the case, was apparently more compelling:

The Ninth Circuit’s decision holding
that judicial review is unavailable foists an
intolerable choice on landowners. According
to the decision, landowners who have received
a compliance order, and who believe that the
compliance order is invalid, can get their day
in court only by (1) spending hundreds of
thousands of dollars and years applying for
a permit that they contend they do not even
need, or (2) inviting the agency to bring an
enforcement action for potentially hundreds
of thousands of dollars in civil penalties for
violations of the order, and criminal penalties
for underlying violations of the Act.”!

The Supreme Court acknowledged the challenges faced
by the Sacketts after receiving the ACO from EPA and
focused its attention on whether the respondents could use
Administrative Procedure Act (APA) to immediately challenge
the order, avoiding the due process issues the Sacketts had
raised.” The APA provides that judicial review is available
for “final agency action for which there is no other adequate
remedy in a court.”® To reach the conclusion that judicial
review was available to the Sacketts under the APA, the
Court first examined whether the ACO was “final agency
action.” Though many other courts in similar situations
had made contrary decisions, the Court concluded that the
compliance order “has all of the hallmarks of APA finality
that our opinions establish.”* First, the order “determined
rights or obligations” by requiring the Sacketts to restore
the wetlands in accordance with an agency - approved
plan.” Second, “legal consequences’ . . . flow from the
order . . . which, according to the Government’s litigating
position, exposes the Sacketts to double penalties in future
enforcement proceedings and ‘severely limits’ their ability to
obtain a CWA section 404 permit from the Army Corps of
Engineers.”* According to the Court, the order also “marked
the ‘consummation’ of the agency’s decision-making process
... for the order’s findings in the compliance order were not
subject to further agency review.””” The Court found that the
Sacketts lacked an adequate remedy to challenge the final
agency action because the Sacketts would have had to wait
until the EPA brought suit to challenge the penalties that were
accruing for non-compliance and statutory violations.*®

Noting that judicial review is unavailable under the APA
if the agency acts according to a statute that “preclude(s]
judicial review,” the Court then considered whether CWA

section 309(a) did so and found that the statute does not
expressly preclude judicial review.” Furthermore, the fact
that the penalty order provisions in CWA section 309(g)

do provide for review does not, in the Court’s view, create

a strong enough negative implication to imply that review
is precluded under CWA section 309(a).** The Court also
rejected the argument of the government that the CWA bars
pre-enforcement review because Congress passed the CWA
“in large part to respond to the inefficiency of then-existing
remedies for water pollution,” and compliance orders “can
obtain quick remediation through voluntary compliance.”!
The Court further reasoned that although pre-enforcement
review might make EPA less willing to use compliance orders,
as the Government argued, the same could be said for all
agency actions subjected to judicial review. Noting that the
“APA’s presumption of judicial review is a repudiation of

the principle that efficiency of regulation conquers all,” the
Court concluded that there is “no reason to think that the
[CWA] was uniquely designed to enable the strong-arming
of regulated parties into ‘voluntary compliance’ without

the opportunity for judicial review.”** The Court further
recognized that even if subject to review, “[cJompliance orders
will remain an effective means of securing prompt voluntary
compliance in those many cases where there is no substantial
basis to question their validity.”*

Two Justices filed separate concurrences which served to
point out that despite having the right to contest the validity
of EPA’s jurisdiction, practical problems would remain for
the Sacketts and other respondents of EPA’s compliance
orders. Justice Ginsberg pointed out that although the Court’s
decision allowed the Sacketts to “immediately litigate” the
question of “EPA’s authority to regulate their land under
the [CWA],” it did not resolve the question of whether the
Sacketts could challenge the “terms and conditions” of the
compliance order.**

Justice Alito also wrote separately to challenge Congress
to clarify the reach of the CWA. He acknowledged that
the majority opinion “provides a modest measure of relief”
by allowing the Sacketts to challenge EPA’s wetlands
jurisdictional determination, but noted that:

The combination of the uncertain reach of
the Clean Water Act and the draconian penalties
imposed for the sort of violations alleged in this
case still leaves most property owners with little
practical alternative but to dance to the EPA’s
tune.... Real relief requires Congress to do what
it should have done in the first place: provide a
reasonably clear rule regarding the reach of the

Clean Water Act.”

Environmental statutes contain dozens of provisions that
authorize unilateral agency orders. The various EPA order



provisions were established for different environmental
media at different times in history for a variety of
enforcement and remedial purposes. Each is therefore
unique. Consequently, the analysis of whether Sackett
applies to the various orders requires that each order, or at
least each type or category of order, be evaluated.

Order authority in environmental statutes includes
the right to issue orders for penalties and for compliance.
Virtually all penalty orders EPA can issue provide for the
right to a hearing before penalties are assessed. This category
of orders will therefore be largely unaffected by Sackett. The

analysis below is confined to compliance orders.

The Comprehensive Environmental Response
Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA)36 provides order
authority under sections 104 and 106 to require action to
clean up and allow access to facilities where there has been
a release or threatened release of hazardous substances.”
CERCLA expressly limits pre-enforcement review of EPA
response actions and orders, providing that no Federal court
will have jurisdiction to review challenges to removal or
remedial actions “selected” under sections 104 or 106(a) of
CERCLA except in limited specific circumstances. In addition
to the express limits on judicial review, section 106(b) of
CERCLA provides post-enforcement recourse to the recipient
of an emergency order that believes it was not liable under
CERCLA, so long as the recipient has complied with the
order.?® The combination of CERCLA’s express preclusion of
judicial review and the post-order remedies of section 106(b)
would appear to satisfy the express preclusion and adequate
remedy conditions enunciated by the Sackett court and
allow CERCLA order authority to remain unaffected by the
opinion.

Another category of orders that may not be affected by
the Sackett preference for judicial review are orders that EPA
may issue for urgent or emergency action. Several statutes
give EPA authority to issue orders after determining that
an “imminent and substantial endangerment” (ISE) exists
that threatens public health or welfare or the environment.
For example, authority to issue ISE orders is provided under
the CWA,* the Clean Air Act (CAA)%, CERCLA,* the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA),* and
the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA).* Other statutes use
different language but nevertheless grant EPA authority to
issue orders to compel urgent action. The Federal Insecticide
Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA), for example, grants
the agency the power to order persons in control of such
pesticides to stop the sale or use of a pesticide or to remove
the pesticide.* The Endangered Species Act grants seizure
and arrest authority based on unilateral determinations of
potential violations of the statute.”

It is likely that the Sackett holding will be less compelling
to courts that are asked to determine whether parties are
entitled to pre-enforcement review when they have received
such “urgent orders” on the grounds that their urgency
reverses the presumption in favor of review. In many cases,
this element of urgency will be the only feature of the order
that distinguishes it from now-reviewable CWA section
309(a)(3) orders. The question for such urgent order authority
is whether the element of urgency will suffice to preclude
application of the Sackett holding or rationale.

In Sackett, the Supreme Court acknowledged that the
implication of non-reviewability can arise from “inferences
of intent drawn from the statutory scheme as a whole.” The
Court did not address whether the need for urgent action
should affect the right to obtain judicial review, other than
to note that “[t]he APA’s presumption of judicial review is
a repudiation of the principle that efficiency of regulation
conquers all.”#¢ This was in reply to the Government’s
argument that granting judicial review will chill the agency’s
willingness to issue orders to obtain quick remediation. Of
course, the order at issue in Sackett was not an ISE order
and no particular urgency was otherwise indicated. For an
order issued for which truly exigent circumstances exist,
Sackett is distinguishable.

Environmental lawyers know that not every ISE order
is truly for emergency action because the phrase “imminent
and substantial endangerment” has been watered down by
the courts. For example, an “endangerment” is not necessarily
an actual harm, but may be a threatened or potential harm.*
The mere risk of harm may be an endangerment, and the
risk need not be quantified.** Courts have also held that an
endangerment may be “imminent” if factors giving rise to it
are present, even though the harm may not be realized for
years.* Courts have interpreted “public health or welfare or the
environment” broadly to include health, safety, recreational,
aesthetic, environmental and economic interests.”® Clearly,
an imminent and substantial endangerment is not always a
ticking time bomb or a runaway locomotive. Courts, therefore,
may not always find an ISE order to have sufficient urgency
to outweigh the APA presumption in favor of reviewability.
Indeed, courts have granted pre-enforcement review for ISE
orders after finding the orders were not truly urgent. In Sinclair
Oil Co. v. Scherer, for example, a federal district court reviewed
a RCRA section 7003 order despite EPA’s arguments that,
because it was an ISE order, review should be precluded.”
According to the Court:

It is reasonable to infer that any emergency
that did exist has been largely abated, or EPA
would have employed the powerful legal
remedies at its disposal to ensure abatement.
Under these circumstances, the emergency
response objective of § 7003(a) has been all but
satisfied. Allowing a review of the § 7003 (a)



order would not undermine EPA’s ability to
swiftly respond to future emergency conditions,
or establish a precedent allowing the recipient of
such an order to evade or delay compliance by

seeking pre-enforcement review.”

If the ISE authority is not sufficient in itself to preclude
judicial review, the other characteristics of the order must be
examined to determine if the order is distinguishable from the
CWA section 309(a)(3) order reviewed by the Sackett court.
In other words, is there some other reason why the order
should not be considered a final agency action for which there
is no means of redress other than pre-enforcement review? A
RCRA 7003(a) order arguably has no other distinguishing
features. Section 7003 (a) allows the agency to issue an order
to require the removal and disposal of hazardous wastes
upon the finding of ISE.>> Other than the ISE requirement,
the operative language is not substantially different from
that of CWA section 309(a)(3). Both provisions give the
administrator the right to order compliance or to bring a civil
action to do so and, under each statute, penalties lie for failure
to comply.”* Apart from the ISE issue, RCRA section 7003(a)
appears to satisfy the APA requirements identified in Sackett
by constituting a “final agency action for which there is no
other adequate remedy in a court.” Thus if a court finds a
7003(a) order was not issued for a truly time sensitive matter,
it may determine that the order should be reviewed.

‘The CAA’s ISE order authority, found in section 303
of the Act,’® differs in important respects from the RCRA
ISE order. The CAA provision makes clear that the order is
intended to require immediate action:

[TThe Administrator, upon receipt of
evidence that a pollution source ... is presenting
an imminent and substantial endangerment to
public health or welfare, or the environment,
may bring suit on behalf of the United States
in the appropriate United States district court
to immediately restrain any person causing
or contributing to the alleged pollution to
stop the emission of air pollutants causing
or contributing to such pollution or to take
such other action as may be necessary. If it is
not practicable to assure prompt protection of
public health or welfare or the environment
by commencement of such a civil action, the
Administrator may issue such orders as may be
necessary to protect public health or welfare
or the environment. ... Any order issued by
the Administrator under this section shall be
effective upon issuance and shall remain in effect
for a period of not more than 60 days.”

The aura of urgency in CAA section 303 warrants the
conclusion that the statute implies, to a degree not found in
RCRA, that pre-enforcement judicial review would cause delays

not intended by the statute and should not be available.

The ISE authority granted under the SDWA likewise
implies pre-enforcement review should not be granted.
SDWA section 1431(a) authorizes orders to prevent
contaminants that are likely to reach a public water system or
other source of drinking water or to thwart a terrorist attack.>®
A court should have no trouble denying pre-enforcement
review for properly issued SDWA orders on the basis that
review would inordinately delay implementation of the acts
required by the order.

Sections 113 of the CAA> and 3008(a) of RCRA,® like
section 309(a)(3) of the CWA, allow unilateral orders to be
issued for a variety of perceived violations of the respective
statutes and do not require a finding of ISE. As explained
below, CAA non-ISE compliance orders, but not those issued
under RCRA, are likely to be found reviewable under a
Sackett analysis.

The provisions of CAA section 113(a)(3) that authorize
issuance of ACO’s are the same in most important respects
as the provisions of CWA section 309(a)(3).*' Unlike the
CWA, however, the CAA contains provisions that specifically
address when judicial review is available for administrative
action taken under the statute. Section 307(b) of the CAA
specifically provides that certain types of administrative
actions are entitled to judicial review in the Court of
Appeals.®* This provision does not specifically identify section
113(a) orders but does provide that review is afforded for “any
final action taken by the Administrator under the Act which
is locally or regionally applicable ...."*> Because Sackett held
the CWA section 309(a)(3) order to be final agency action,
and because the CAA section 113(a)(3) order is very similar
in appearance and in effect to CWA section 309(a)(3), * it
is likely that CAA section 113(a)(3) orders will normally be

considered reviewable henceforth.®

It should be noted that the legislative history of the CAA
indicates that Congress removed a provision allowing for
judicial review of CAA compliance orders from a draft version
of the Act. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals saw this as
evidence of an intent by Congress not to provide for judicial
review of similar compliance orders.® However, this mere
negative implication drawn from legislative history does not
favor an interpretation that CAA compliance orders are not
reviewable now that the Supreme Court has concluded that
the almost identical CWA 309(a)(3) orders are final agency
action entitled to review. Moreover, it seems just as likely that
Congress removed the specific review provision before passage
of the CAA amendments not for the purpose of denying
judicial review but instead because it believed the issue was
adequately addressed by CAA section 307(b), which specifically
addresses review of CAA final actions.”



In 2003, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 11th Circuit
held unconstitutional EPA’s use of ACQO’s issued under
Section 113 of the CAA.%® As a consequence, EPA lost the
use of a potent enforcement tool in the 11th Circuit states
of Georgia, Alabama, and Florida. As explained below, for
enforcement in these three states, Sackett benefits EPA
because it will enable the agency to once again issue effective
compliance orders under CAA section 113(a)(3).

As with the CWA administrative order that was the subject
of Sackett, an order issued under CAA section 113 (a)(3) can
force the recipient of the order to choose between complying
with the order and not complying while risking penalties of
up to $37,500 per day in a later EPA enforcement action.
Orders under both statutes may be issued based solely on
“any information available to” EPA. This unfettered power on
the part of EPA troubled the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals
in 2003 as it did the Supreme Court in the 2012 Sackett
decision. The adage that “great minds think alike” proved
false, however, and the Supreme Court premised its ruling on
a conclusion that was opposite from the conclusion on which
the 11th Circuit premised its holding. The Court of Appeals
had held that the ACO “enforcement scheme” of CAA section
113(a)(3) violated both the Due Process Clause of the Fifth
Amendment and separation of powers principles and could
not be allowed to stand.®” To reach this result, the Court of
Appeals found that section 113(a)(3) orders could never be
final agency action. The Court held:

We lack jurisdiction to review the ACO
because it does not constitute “final” agency
action. Although the CAA empowers the
EPA Administrator to issue ACOs that have
the status of law, we believe that the statutory
scheme is unconstitutional to the extent that
severe civil and criminal penalties can be
imposed for noncompliance with the terms
of an ACO. Accordingly, ACOs are legally
inconsequential and do not constitute final
agency action. We therefore decline to assert
jurisdiction over TVA’s petition for review

pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 7607 (b)(1).”

By premising its holding in Sackett on finding that
the CWA ACO at issue was a final agency action,”’ thus
rendering it reviewable under the APA as a “final agency
action for which there is no other adequate remedy in a
court,” 7? the Supreme Court undercut the foundation
of the 11th Circuit holding and effectively invalidated it.
Thus, although Sackett probably means CAA Section 113
ACO’s are subject to APA review in district court, it also
restores EPA’s CAA section 113 ACO authority in three
states in Region 4. According to EPA, Sackett is likely to
have a minimal effect on administrative enforcement.””

Arguably, the decision is a boon to EPA Region 4 for CAA

enforcement. EPA is likely to conclude that it is better to
be able to issue a reviewable CAA ACO in the states of the
11th Circuit than to not be able to issue one at all.

Section 3008(a) of RCRA provides EPA with non-
emergency authority to issue orders for compliance and
for civil penalties for violating the statute.”* In section
3008(h), RCRA also gives the agency authority to require
remediation of interim status facilities to clean up releases of
hazardous substances.” This authority is in addition to EPA’s
“emergency” order powers discussed above.”® The authority
granted under sections 3008(a) and (h) of RCRA differs
fundamentally from that granted for section 309(a) orders
under the CWA because RCRA section 3008(b) expressly
gives respondents of orders the right to a public hearing.”
Authority under the RCRA ACO also differs from that under
CAA 113(a)(3) because the right to a hearing is specifically
granted for RCRA compliance orders and is only implied
for compliance orders under the CAA because of Sackett.”®

Section 3008(b) of RCRA provides:

Any order issued under this section shall
become final unless, no later than thirty days
after the order is served, the person or persons
named therein request a public hearing. Upon
such request the Administrator shall promptly
conduct a public hearing. In connection
with any proceeding under this section the
Administrator may issue subpenas (sic) for the
attendance and testimony of witnesses and
the production of relevant papers, books, and
documents, and may promulgate rules for
discovery procedures.”

The 40 C.ER. Part 22 regulations that govern most
EPA administrative penalty cases also govern the hearings
conducted pursuant to RCRA section 3008(b).*° The
procedure afforded by these regulations has been held to
conform to the APA provisions for formal adjudication.®!
Appeals of RCRA section 3008(h) orders are governed
by the less formal procedures of 40 C.ER. Part 24.%
Hearings under Parts 22 and 24 are concluded by the
issuance of final orders by the presiding official (either
an Administrative Law Judge or agency Regional Judicial
Officer), which are specifically classified by the rules as
“final agency action.”® At the time they are issued, RCRA
3008(a) and 3008(h) compliance orders are not appealable
to a district court under the APA because they fail both
parts of the two part test of APA section 704: They are
neither final agency action nor are they actions for which
there are no other adequate remedies in court.?* They
should therefore be unaffected by Sackett.

The holding in Sackett shifted a prevailing presumption



that compliance orders under CWA section 309 and similar
orders under other environmental statutes are not reviewable.
They will now be reviewable should EPA choose to continue
using them. What does this mean for EPA and for those

to whom EPA wishes to issue compliance directives? EPA
claims Sackett will not have a major impact on agency
enforcement and that EPA will continue administering the
enforcement program in substantially the same manner.®
‘This is a plausible claim; EPA should be able to easily adjust
its practices to avoid significant headaches caused by the
decision. If, for example, an EPA Region discovers an ongoing
CWA violation, such as the fill of apparent wetlands without
a proper CWA section 404 permit, the agency will still be
compelled by the statute to take action if it “finds” based

on “any information” that a violation has occurred.®® The
Agency’s choices for taking action will be the same. It will
still have the choice of referring the case to the Department
of Justice for a civil action or issuing an ACO. Upon receipt
of an ACO, the respondent will still be required to comply or
risk enforcement and confiscatory penalties, unless it decides
to exercise its new right to appeal and convinces a federal
court to set aside the order.”” It is likely to be relatively rare,
however, for a respondent to seek judicial review, particularly
if EPA, now “incentivized” by the Sackett decision, has done a
thorough job investigating the alleged violation and building
an adequate record to support its finding of a violation.

What if EPA does not believe its case against a respondent
can withstand an APA challenge, but believes it must take
action to prevent additional harm from perceived or suspected
violations? Here, the agency should choose to forbear issuing
a unilateral order until it develops a record of evidence that
will support its case. In the meantime, however, it may notify
the regulated entity it believes to be out of compliance by
letter, in person, or otherwise that it believes the party is
violating the statute, and that daily penalties may be accruing
at a rate of $37,500 per day per violation. The agency will not
have been substantially prejudiced by not immediately issuing
an order, and the regulated party will have a chance and an
incentive to rectify any non-compliance. The options of suing
to compel injunctive action, issuing a penalty order, and
issuing an ACO will still remain for when the agency becomes
comfortable with the evidence in the record.

As suggested above, the Sackett holding may or may
not be applied to agency orders issued under ISE authority,
depending upon whether true urgency is indicated when
the order is issued.®® As with non-ISE orders, the possibility
that review will be granted for ISE orders is not likely to be a
substantial burden for EPA so long as the agency conforms its
conduct with the new legal reality and builds reliable records
to support its order-issuing decisions.

The primary impact of the Sackett decision is, arguably,
that it will give EPA the incentive to ensure evidence in

the record that supports an ACO is sufficient to withstand
judicial review, thereby reducing the potential for issuing
orders not supported by the facts. Not only will this provide
a modicum of protection to the regulated community against
overreaching, it may even enhance the credibility of the
agency in the long term. Of course, Sackett also means that
when respondents feel unjustly accused under certain types of
enforcement orders, they now have a greater range of options
for defending themselves. The scope of these options has yet
to be fully determined, but is sure to be broader than before
Sackett was decided.
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16 U.S.C. § 1540.

Sackett v. EPA, 132 S. Ct. at 1374.

B.F. Goodrich Co. v. Murtha, 697 F. Supp. 89, 96 (D. Conn.
1988).

Id.

United States v. Conservation Chemical, 619 F. Supp. 162,
193 (W.D. Mo. 1985).

Id. at 192.

20 Envtl. L. Rep. (Envtl. L. Inst.) 20,009 (D. Wyo. June 30,
1989), vacated, No. C88-0190-8 (July 23, 1991). See also
W.R. Grace & Co. v. EPA, 959 F.2d 360 (1st Cir. 1992); E.I.
DuPont de Nemours & Co. v. Daggett, 610 F. Supp. 260
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Adjustment Rule. 69 Fed. Reg. 7121.

5U.S.C. § 704.

42 U.S.C. § 7603.

Id.

42 U.S.C. § 300i(a).

42 U.S.C. § 7413.

42 U.S.C. § 6928(a).

As the Ninth Circuit noted in the Sackett appeal, the CAA
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v. Whitman, 336 F.3d 1236 (11th Cir. 2003) (explaining that
the operative provisions in both enforcement regimes are
substantively identical).

42 U.S.C. § 7607(b).

Id.

Sackett v. EPA, 622 F.3d at1139, 1144. (“The enforcement
provisions of the CWA were modeled on enforcement
provisions in the Clean Air Act (CAA), and many courts
have relied on similar provisions in the CAA in concluding
that the CWA precludes pre-enforcement judicial review of
compliance orders”).

CAA section 113 (a)(4) provides marginally greater due
process rights than CWA section 309(a)(3) by providing
that orders will not take effect for most alleged violations
until EPA has granted recipients a “right to confer with” the
agency. 42 U.S.C. § 7413(a)(4). Section 309 of the CWA,
in contrast, grants a similar right only for orders related to

a single provision of the Act. 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a). It should
be noted that EPA routinely offers respondents the right to
consult with agency after it issues 309(a) orders. Region 4,
for example, typically offers to hold a “show cause” meeting
to hear the respondent’s arguments. The Supreme Court in
Sackett acknowledged EPA granted this opportunity to the
Sacketts but found that “[tlhe mere possibility that an agency
might reconsider in light of “informal discussion”... does not
suffice to make an otherwise final agency action nonfinal.”
132 S.Ct. at 1372. Thus, this additional “right” provided by
the CAA should not affect this analysis.

Sackett v. EPA, 622 F.3d at 1144. (“During the enactment of
the CAA, the Conference Committee which reconciled the
House and Senate versions of the CAA deleted a provision
in the Senate’s version of the bill that would have expressly
provided for pre-enforcement review of CAA administrative
compliance orders. ... At least one court has inferred

from this deletion that it was intended to preclude pre-
enforcement judicial review of compliance orders”).

42 U.S.C. § 7607(b).

See TVA v. Whitman, 336 F.3d 1236 (11th Cir. 2003), cert
denied, Leavitt v. Tenn. Valley Auth., 124 S. Ct. 2096 (2004).
Id.at 1258-1260.

Id. at 1239 (emphasis added).

Sackett v. USA, 132 S. Ct. at 1371.

5U.S.C. §704;.

See EPA Official Sees No Major Shift in Agency’s Use of
Compliance Orders, Bloomberg BNA Daily Environment
Report, May 4, 2012, http://www.bna.com/epa-official-
sees-n12884909211/.

42 U.S.C. § 6928(a).

42 U.S.C. §§ 6928(h).

See notes 44-91 and accompanying text.

42 U.S.C. § 6928(b).

See notes 78-80 and accompanying text.

Id.

The applicability of Part 22 to these orders is not immediately
apparent because the rules are named the “Consolidated
Rules of Practice Governing the Administrative Assessment
of Penalties and the Revocation/Termination or Suspension
of Permits.” (emphasis added). Also misleading is the fact
that Part 22 provides that an administrative hearing under
the provisions is initiated with a “complaint” by the agency,
not an order. See 40 C.F.R. 22.13. However, the regulation
that describes the scope of the procedures makes clear that
the regulations “govern all adjudicatory proceedings” for “[t]
he issuance of a compliance order or ... corrective action
order under section 3008(a) of RCRA.” See also Chemical
Waste Management, Inc. v. U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency, 873 F.2d 1477, 1479 (1989) (“The Environmental
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Protection Agency (EPA) promulgated procedural regulations
to implement the “public hearing” provision of subsection (a)
of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), §
3008, which authorizes the EPA to enter orders assessing
civil penalties, including suspension or revocation of permits,
for violation of RCRA regulations. 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a). 40
C.FR. Part 22.").
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By Albert K. Langley, Jr., Ph.D., Georgia Environmental Protection Division

n Aug. 1, 2008, the Director of the Georgia

Environmental Protection Division (EPD) reissued

General Permit No. GAR100003, “Authorization
to Discharge Under the National Pollutant Discharge
Elimination System, Storm Water Discharges Associated with
Construction Activity For Common Developments.”" This
revised General Permit addressed a number of issues identified
during the implementation of the original permit issued in
2003. The General Permit creates a comprehensive set of
requirements used to control the discharge of storm water
from construction sites.

The General Permit requires that anyone conducting
construction activities® at a common development® obtain
coverage under the permit and comply with the conditions
of the permit. Permit coverage is obtained through filing a
Notice of Intent* with EPD. The Notice of Intent requires
certain information from the applicant and a certification
that an Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution Control Plan
(Plan) has been prepared in accordance with Part IV of the
General Permit, and that such Plan provides for compliance
with the General Permit. The General Permit requires
continuous coverage from the initial groundbreaking until
final stabilization of the entire property has occurred.

The General Permit is a complex document, placing a
significant burden on the permittee to develop and implement
the required Plan and to maintain all documentation of
compliance. Yet, when correctly implemented, it results in
a comprehensive set of erosion and sedimentation controls,
inspections and maintenance that can effectively minimize
impacts to state waters from construction activities. The
implementation of the 2003 version of the General Permit
clearly resulted in a significant decrease in sediment impact to
state waters, and the EPD anticipated that the 2008 General
Permit, by incorporating the lessons learned from the 2003
General Permit, would be even more effective.

One weakness of the 2003 General Permit that the EPD
sought to correct in the 2008 General Permit was to address
the rare (at that time) occasion in which a bank or other
lending institution would obtain ownership of a permitted
site. The various lending institutions were not knowledgeable
regarding the requirements of the General Permit nor did they
often file the required Notice of Intent. The 2008 General
Permit directly addresses this potential gap in stormwater
discharge coverage by containing the requirement that, “in
the event a lender or other secured creditor acquires legal
title to the facility/construction site, such party must file a

new NOI in accordance with this Part by the earlier to occur
of (a) seven (7) days before beginning work at the facility/
construction site; or (b) thirty (30) days from acquiring legal
title to the facility/construction site. Stabilization and BMP
installation and/or maintenance measures of a disturbed site,
by the subsequent Owner or Operator, may occur in advance
of filing a new NOI, without violation of this permit.”

This effort to explicitly bring lenders into the purview of
the General Permit did not, however, anticipate the collapse
of the entire construction market. The collapse, moreover,
created some unique problems, for the logistics facing the
lenders did not always accord with the factual scenario
anticipated by the General Permit. The most significant
anomaly in the current situation is that prior to the financial
crisis, there were almost no instances where a development
was not completed. In the rare circumstance that a lender
obtained ownership, building continued and the project was
completed. Thus, the General Permit remained in effect, the
project moved forward and no particular issue surrounding
permit compliance arose.

This situation completely changed with the collapse of the
building market. Lending institutions came into ownership
of thousands of properties, many of which they had never
seen. These properties were in all stages of development, from
having just broken ground to being almost complete. As EPD
and Local Issuing Authorities began receiving complaints
about these properties, it quickly became clear that the
situation was completely different from that contemplated by
the General Permit.

The majority of the properties foreclosed by lending
institutions are residential subdivisions. In developing the
General Permit, the EPD assumed that a lending institution
would foreclose on an entire development, including the
roads, infrastructure, etc. Though this does occur, it is an
exception and not the rule. In most circumstances, the
lending institution forecloses on individual building lots.
The roads, infrastructure and common areas, however, most
often remain in the ownership of the original developer. This
bifurcation conflicts with the Primary / Secondary Permittee
structure of the General Permit and often leaves unanswered
the question of which party has the primary responsibility for
environmental compliance.

The framework of the General Permit contemplates a
Primary Permittee responsible for the overall development of a
Plan to control storm water discharges from the property. The



General Permit requires a complex set of erosion controls that
must be inspected and maintained by the Primary Permittee.
Many of these controls are located on common areas which
remain in the ownership of the bankrupt developer. Lending
institutions do not have the right to enter these properties and
conduct maintenance activities. When the original developer
is bankrupt and lending institutions own many or all of the
building lots, but not the common areas or infrastructure, the
Primary Permittee concept of the General Permit becomes

very difficult to apply.

The General Permit, moreover, does not really contemplate
the situation of a development not being completed. Yet, as
a community, we are faced with the prospect of hundreds
of properties that will possibly not be built on for decades,
if ever. Who will assume — and where are the resources for
— the responsibility of permitting and stormwater discharge
compliance for an indefinite period of time while in this state
of development limbo?

Initially many lending institutions began filing Notices
of Intent as the Primary Permittee on all the properties they
obtained. While that is certainly one - and from the EPD’s
perspective, the simplest - way to proceed, there are problems,
for there was often a wide disconnect between the lender’s
perfunctory execution of the NOI and its actions taken
to ensure compliance. The Notice of Intent contains the
following three certifications:

— I certify that the receiving water(s) or the outfall(s)
or a combination of receiving water(s) and outfall(s)
will be monitored in accordance with the Erosion,
Sedimentation and Pollution Control Plan.

— I certify that the Erosion, Sedimentation and Pollution
Control Plan (Plan) has been prepared in accordance
with Part IV of the General NPDES Permit No.
GAR100001, No. GAR100002 or No. GAR100003,
the Plan will be implemented, and that such Plan will
provide for compliance with this permit.

— I certify under penalty of law that this document and
all attachments were prepared under my direction or
supervision in accordance with a system designed to
assure that certified personnel properly gather and
evaluate the information submitted. Based upon
my inquiry of the person or persons who manage
the system, or those persons directly responsible for
gathering the information, the information submitted
is, to the best of my knowledge and belief, true,
accurate and complete. I am aware that there are
significant penalties for submitting false information,
including the possibility of fines and imprisonment
for knowing violations.

Yet, when questioned, the illusory nature of this
“compliance” was made evident as most of the lending
institutions had no knowledge of the monitoring being
done, the status of the Plan, or whether anything to do with
compliance with the General Permit was actually occurring.
As the EPD further explored the situation, it became very
obvious that other problems existed. While most Primary
Permittees had developed an Erosion Sedimentation and
Pollution Control Plan, very few of these Plans were transferred
to the lending institutions. When lending institutions
approached the original design professional, they were greeted
with the information that the design professional had not
contracted with them, but with the original developer. The
design professional would be happy to supply a Plan to the
lending institution, but only for the appropriate fee. Lending
institutions also began to realize that for the thousands of
properties they now controlled they were responsible for
significant expenses in monitoring, daily inspections, etc. It
became very obvious that the cost of permit compliance could
often exceed the value of the foreclosed property, particularly in
the depressed real estate market.

As these issues became apparent, the various lending
institutions began to more closely examine their obligations
regarding compliance with the General Permit. It became
very apparent to them and to the EPD that the General
Permit did not adequately address the reality of the current
market. The General Permit did not really anticipate
the situation of a project with all construction activity
completely stopped and with no intention to resume in
the foreseeable future. The lending institutions began to
question the need for General Permit coverage, using the
argument that since no construction activity was occurring,
no General Permit coverage was required. Further, they
began to question exactly what type of coverage could
be appropriate. They usually did not control an entire
development, often owning only a collection of building
lots, the majority of which were not contiguous. They did
not control common areas or roads. They thus did not
believe they could actually serve as a Primary Permittee, but
they could not be Secondary Permittees either, since without
a Primary there cannot be Secondaries.

Rather than engage in a costly and drawn out legal
battle over these issues, EPD and several of the large lending
institutions entered discussions resulting in a compromise that:

Satisfies the basic intent of the General Permit - that
being to keep the dirt out of the water;

Provides a clear and enforceable framework; and
Is a real-world solution to a real-world problem.

EPD decided to focus its efforts on preventing sediment
from these properties entering state waters. The EPD
developed a Consent Agreement which provides that a
lending institution:



*  Establish a program to stabilize conditions at
foreclosed properties where land disturbing activities
or construction activities have previously occurred, to
inspect each property to evaluate current conditions,
and to identify the potential for storm water impacts.

*  Based on the results of the property inspections,
prioritize all foreclosed properties based on the
potential for adverse environmental impacts due to
storm water discharge from the properties.

*  Take those actions necessary to stabilize conditions
and minimize impacts from storm water discharge in
general accordance with 7he Manual for Erosion and
Sediment Control in Georgia.

*  Develop and maintain a database of properties covered
by the Consent Agreement. This database will include
documentation of actions taken for each property.
EPD will be given access to view the database. This
database will be updated on at least a monthly basis.

* Inform any purchaser of any property which is subject
to this Consent Agreement of the requirement to
obtain a stormwater construction permit for land
disturbing activities.

Additionally, EPD agreed that:

*  Once a property has achieved final stabilization as
defined in the General Permit, no further action is
required. Any NOI filed by a previous owner shall be

considered terminated.

* IfEPD receives a complaint regarding any of the
properties covered by this Consent Agreement, EPD
will contact the lending institution representative to
review the complaint and discuss a response to the
complaint.

Since the first such Consent Order was negotiated and
signed in October 2009, EPD has executed this Consent
Order with a number of lending institutions. EPD has
received very few complaints regarding sediment loss from
these foreclosed properties, and those we have received were
quickly resolved. Substituting the Consent Order for the

revised General Permit has enabled the EPD to achieve the
goal of stormwater discharge control under the actual — and
unique — fact situation confronting the construction and
lending industries. The Consent Order has thus proven to be
an effective tool in addressing this unprecedented financial
situation and concomitant environmental exposure.

Alber K. Langley Jr,. Ph.D. is the District Operations
Coordinator for Georgia EPD’s six District Offices, which
are responsible for enforcement and compliance activities.
He also serves as manager of the Mountain District office in
Cartersville. Langley previously served as Emergency Response
and SARA Title III and Clean Air Act Risk Management
Program Coordinator for Georgia EPD, and as team leader
in the Hazardous Waste Management Program, responsible
for permitting and compliance activities at hazardous waste
land disposal facilities. Dr. Langley has also served as EPD’s
representative to the State Homeland Security Task Force, and
serves on several federal advisory committees for the EPA and
DOE. Prior to joining EPD, he was employed by Dames &
Moore, serving as principal investigator or project manager
for environmental projects throughout the continental United
States. Langley is a graduate of Emory University where he
received both Masters and Doctorate degrees in Ecology.



